RECEIVED

Mar 06 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Chester County

Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

GENE ALEXZANDER SCOTT,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-000900

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Senior Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err by allowing SLED Agent Richard Cullop to testify without being qualified as an expert merely to repeat information previously presented by other witnesses, thus giving the state a second closing argument?
2. Did the trial court err by allowing Kimberly Clamp to opine these were "low risk" victims without being qualified as an expert?
3. Did the trial court err by overruling Appellant's objection that Clamp should not be permitted to give an opinion on whether she believed Appellant's alibi?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Gene Scott was indicted on October 21, 2021 by the Chester County grand jury for two counts of murder and one count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 56 – 57; R. 60 – 61; R. 64 – 65. He went to trial before Judge Donald Hocker and a jury from May 13–23, 2024. R. 1. He was represented by Kay Boulware and William Frick; the state was represented by Candice Lively and Julia Soprano-Cesmat. R. 1. Ultimately, the jury convicted him as charged. R. 1895, ll. 16-22. Judge Hocker sentenced him to sixty years in prison for both murders and five years for the possession, all to run concurrently. R. 1909, l. 20 – 1910, l. 2.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 21, 2020, just after noon, Appellant Gene Alexander Scott called 911 after he found the bodies of his grandfather, Gene Rogers, and great-grandmother, Billie Rogers, in Gene's trailer in Richburg, South Carolina.¹ R. 128, ll. 1-22; R. 1702, ll. 15-22; R. 1704, l. 24 – 1705, l. 17; State's Ex. 1, R. 1912. They had been shot. R. 489, ll. 19-24; R. 497, l. 18 – 498 l. 5; R. 1702, ll. 21-22. Officer Claude Powell of the Chester County Sheriff's Office was the first to arrive on the scene. R. 141, ll. 9-13; R. 143, ll. 6-17. He saw Appellant "sitting there screaming, hollering, crying, distraught, punching the ground, saying that his grandparents had been shot, and they were inside." R. 143, ll. 9-12. He later had Appellant create a written statement describing what he saw, which was entered at trial as State's Exhibit 139. R. 151, l. 24 – 152, l. 17; R. 1912. Powell's bodycam from the scene was introduced at trial as State's Exhibit 3. R. 171, l. 7 – 172, l. 25.

Broadly speaking, the state's theory at trial was Appellant killed Gene because he was a beneficiary on Gene's life insurance policy, and Billie just happened to be there at the same time. R. 112, ll. 16-24; R. 115, ll. 2-6; R. 1809, ll. 6-11; R. 1826, l. 17 – 1827, l. 9. Through Gene's life insurance company and employer, the state showed Appellant was a fifty-percent beneficiary of Gene's life insurance policy and stood to receive up to \$346,000 in the event of his death. R. 671, l. 14 – 681, l. 7; R. 771, l. 8 – 772, l. 4. The state's theory of the case was that Appellant needed the money because he had started a business that was not doing well. R. 112, ll. 16-21; R. 116, ll. 11-20.

¹ For clarity, Appellant will refer to his grandfather Gene Rogers as "Gene" and his great-grandmother Billie Rogers as "Billie" because several witnesses are family members with similar names.

After Appellant left the marines, he started a tactical equipment and private security company, Legion International. R. 773, l. 8 – 774, l. 12; R. 778, l. 5 – 779, l. 4; R. 1672, l. 3 – 1673, l. 9. Gene gave Appellant \$91,000 in January 2020 to help start the business, and by June 2020 almost all the cash was gone. R. 775, l. 2 – 776, l. 21; R. 778, l. 5 – 779, l. 4. Appellant was "very forthcoming" on the day he discovered the bodies about receiving the money to start his business. R. 462, l. 11 – 463, l. 2. Appellant admitted at trial that his business did not work well, in part due to the Covid-19 pandemic upending the entire economy. R. 1676, l. 12 – 1678, l. 6. He also admitted to wasting money on strip clubs and video games—he was young and did "a lot of stupid things" with his finances. R. 1673, ll. 1-25; R. 784, l. 22 – 785, l. 22. Still, although he was cash-poor in June of 2020, he had inventory he intended to sell and then invest the proceeds. R. 1752, l. 23 – 1753, l. 15; R. 1729, ll. 9-21.

When Appellant began working on Legion International, he hired or recruited many of his friends to join him. Of particular importance, these included Ian Little, Evan Webb, and John Cravener. Little lived with Appellant in an apartment in Columbia along with Cravener and Cravener's wife. R. 1007, ll. 4-17; R. 1096, ll. 7-15; R. 1128, l. 1 – 1129, l. 24; R. 1676, ll. 1-6. Little committed suicide in November of 2020. R. 64, l. 7 – 65, l. 2. But for that fact, the state would have charged him as a codefendant. R. 31, ll. 5-11. Based on *State v. Cartwright*, 425 S.C. 81, 92, 819 S.E.2d 756, 761 (2018), the trial court ruled the state was not permitted to mention Little's suicide in front of the jury. R. 86, l. 11 – 87, l. 1.

Evan Webb testified he was close friends with Appellant when they were in the marines together. R. 97, ll. 15-24. When he left the marines, Webb knew Appellant intended to start a business and talked to Appellant about working together on Legion International. R. 1005, l. 17 – 1007, l. 25. Webb testified Appellant picked him up from North Carolina and returned to

Columbia on May 9, 2020. R. 1015, ll. 8-24. When they arrived at Appellant's apartment, it was the two of them, Ian Little, and another person he did not know. R. 1017, ll. 7-12. According to Webb, Appellant then revealed a plan to kill his grandfather. R. 1018, ll. 3-11. Webb testified he was "supposed to be part of an alibi" and say "everybody was still in the apartment" that day. R. 1016, ll. 18-22. He testified he used Appellant's and Little's phones and "ma[de] it look like everybody was there and having conversations with each other." R. 1016, ll. 20-25. Webb testified Appellant and Little eventually returned and told them they cancelled the plan "because some animals had seen them and they were sure that other people had heard it." R. 1027, ll. 8-13. He testified Appellant then said they "would talk about it at a later date," seemingly to try again. R. 1027, ll. 10-16. Appellant drove him home the next morning. R. 1028, ll. 10-18.

Webb also testified that on June 20, 2020, Appellant called him and "basically just asked me if I was still good to go to be his alibi." R. 1029, ll. 2-21. Webb testified he did not come down from North Carolina that night. R. 1029, l. 14 – 1030, l. 15. At some point later, a detective called Webb, and Webb told him that he and Appellant were together at the time of the murders. R. 1034, ll. 16-25. At the time of his testimony, Webb had a proffer agreement for his felony charge of obstruction of justice based on his claimed lie to the police. R. 1038, l. 13 – 1039, l. 25.

John Cravener testified he was the other person in the apartment with Webb on May 9, 2020. R. 1141, ll. 1-9. Appellant described him as Little's friend he hired for the company as a favor to Little. R. 1686, ll. 11-22. He and his wife lived with Appellant and Little in a one-bedroom starting in April of 2020. R. 1126, l. 15 – 1129, l. 22. He testified that at the beginning of May 2020, Appellant told him there was a "business meeting" and that Webb joined them for the meeting. R. 1135, l. 10 – 1136, l. 14. He testified, "Scott told us that he was going to make a

plan to kill his grandfather at the meeting." R. 1137, ll. 10-13. He testified the plan was to use Appellant's and Little's phones to make it appear like they were all hanging out together and that Little and Appellant left that night around 6:00 p.m. and returned around 1:00 or 2:00 a.m. R. 1139, l. 14 – 1140, l. 14. Cravener testified that on June 20, 2020, the night of the murders, he went to an Airbnb with his wife to be out of the apartment at Appellant's request because of a business meeting. R. 1156, ll. 4-22; R. 1692, ll. 7-13. Cravener's credibility was challenged because he was given immunity for any role he played in the murders in exchange for testifying after officers threatened to arrest him for obstruction. R. 1175, ll. 1-17; R. 1190, l. 14 – 1191, l. 3.

As will be further explained below, the state also called Eric Devlin, an expert in "digital forensics and analysis" and "cellphone location analysis." R. 883, ll. 3-8. Kimberly Clamp, who was not qualified as an expert, testified for the state and opined about the "victimology" of Gene and Billie. R. 1272, l. 6 – 1274, l. 7. She also asserted there were "inconsistencies" in Appellant's original version of events. R. 1276, l. 24 – 1277, l. 3. Agent Richard Cullop testified as the state's final witness and overviewed the entire case for "context." R. 1331, ll. 8-21; R. 1334, ll. 21-25; R. 1523, ll. 2-14; R. 1527, ll. 1-20; R. 1528, ll. 2-15; R. 1544, ll. 15-22. Also, Appellant called Anthony Gentile as an expert in "historical cell site location information, call detail records analysis, and mobile device forensics." R. 1622, l. 2 – 1623, l. 5.

Appellant testified at trial that he is innocent and did not kill Gene and Billie, so someone else must have killed them. R. 1733, l. 18 – 1734, l. 6. Appellant testified he did not "bring . . . everybody into the living room and say, hey, I'm gonna kill my grandparents," as Webb had described. R. 1684, l. 21 – 1685, l. 3. Rather, he invited Webb down to Columbia on May 9, 2020, to see his friend and perhaps talk about the business. R. 1681, l. 25 – 1683, l. 3. Appellant

testified he did ask Webb to create a fake alibi on June 20, 2020, but he did so because he and Little wanted the apartment to themselves because they were sleeping together. R 1692, l. 7 – 1695, l. 10. He testified they had a sexual relationship they kept secret from their romantic partners and which he did not want to reveal to a detective, so he created the fake alibis for his friends and lied to the detective about his activities the night of the murders. R. 1694, ll. 6-12. Appellant did not go to Gene's house on June 20, 2020. R. 1692, ll. 19-24.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion." *State v. Odom*, 376 S.C. 330, 334, 656 S.E.2d 748, 750 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing *State v. Gaster*, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002)). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006) (citing *State v. McDonald*, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000)).

ARGUMENT

I. Agent Cullop's testimony was cumulative and appropriate only for closing arguments; it was also impermissible opinion testimony and hearsay not based on his personal knowledge.

As its last witness the state called SLED Agent Richard Cullop to summarize and repeat all of the evidence it had presented. Despite the state's insistence (and the trial court's acceptance) that he was not an expert and did not need to be one, Cullop was allowed to give his opinions about technical matters, repeat testimony and hearsay as the basis for those opinions, and generally testify about the entire case despite lacking personal knowledge of the subject matter. In practice, his sole purpose was to allow the state to give two closing statements. That is why he was called. That is what he did. There is no basis in the law for such cumulative and improper testimony, particularly when the vast majority of the testimony was in the form of an opinion. Nonetheless, the trial court allowed the testimony after considering the issue using an incorrect standard for the admission of lay opinions.

a. Relevant Facts

i. Evidence Previously Presented and Cullop's Testimony

Prior to Cullop's testimony, the state called Eric Devlin, an expert in "digital forensics and analysis" and "cellphone location analysis." R. 883, ll. 3-8. For his analysis he reviewed a copy of Appellant's phone extraction, Appellant's iCloud and Facebook accounts, call records for several people, Little's iCloud account, and Billie's phone and Facebook account. R. 884, ll. 2-13; R. 887, ll. 7-24; State's Ex. 195, slide 2. From those sources, he developed a nearly two-hundred slide PowerPoint that was introduced as State's Exhibit 195, which is on file with this Court. R. 886, l. 3 – 887, l. 3. Devlin's testimony was extensive and his PowerPoint included dozens upon dozens of Appellant's texts and messages, Google searches, and call records. R. 903, l. 1 – 910, l. 23; R. 930, l. 4 – 941, l. 13; R. 913, l. 13 – 917, l. 16; State's Ex. 195, slides 30-

140. He also performed a location analysis based on data from Appellant's phone and provider records for Appellant, Little, and Webb. R. 958, l. 7 – 974, l. 12; State's Ex. 195, slides 154-193. In his opinion, the data showed Appellant arriving at the scene of the murders around 12:15 p.m. on June 21, 2020 when he discovered the bodies. R. 973, l. 10 – 974, l. 10. The night before, his phone was at his apartment at 10:41 p.m. R. 958, l. 25 – 959, l. 5; R. 969, ll. 16-21.

The state called SLED investigator Richard Cullop as its last witness. R. 1496, l. 19 – 1497, l. 5. Cullop and the solicitor repeated to the jury and the court that he was "not an expert." R. 1337, ll. 9-11; R. 1407, ll. 20-25; R. 1408, ll. 2-10; R. 1508, ll. 14-19; R. 1512, ll. 7-10; R. 1548, l. 24 – 1549, l. 5. He did no work on the case until February of 2024, three months before trial. R. 1497, ll. 20-23. Prior to February 13, 2024, he had no knowledge of the case at all. R. 14979, l. 20 – 1498, l. 1. In order "to become familiar" with the case he "copied over all the documentation and started to review everything." R. 1499, ll. 14-17. He then spent "weeks" looking through the extraction data from Appellant's phone. R. 1500, l. 18 – 1501, l. 2. Cullop did not perform the phone extraction.² R. 567, ll. 7-25. He used a PowerPoint during his testimony "for demonstrative purposes only." R. 1345, ll. 9-11; R. 1334, ll. 21-22. Cullop testified some of his slides were "straight from [Devlin's] presentation." R. 1545, ll. 17-25; R. 1403, ll. 16-20; R. 1410, ll. 7-9. Virtually all of Cullop's knowledge about the case came from other sources.

It is neither practical nor helpful to describe here all the evidence Cullop presented over fifty pages of transcript using over fifty detailed slides in his PowerPoint. However, his

² Telly Crockett testified that on June 22, 2020, he collected Appellant's phone pursuant to a search warrant. R. 559, l. 11 – 560, l. 3; R. 563, l. 15 – 564, l. 20. Crockett then turned the phone over to Paula Stevens, an examiner with the Fort Mill Police Department. R. 564, l. 18 – 565, l. 4. Appellant stipulated Paula Stevens performed the data extraction on Appellant's phone. R. 567, ll. 7-25.

testimony can largely be grouped into a few broad categories. The vast majority of Cullop's testimony concerned information obtained from Appellant's cellphone. This testimony included (1) location information and its reliability, R. 1509, l. 1 – 1510, l. 19; Cullop's PowerPoint, slides 11-13, 38-42, 45-46, 49-50; (2) numerous Google searches at various known and unknown dates and times, Tr. 1611:4-1622:13; Cullop's PowerPoint, slides 15-28, 52-53; and (3) details about various text messages and calls which, in Cullop's opinion, proved Appellant was lying about his alibi, R. 1525, l. 19 – 1527, l. 20; R. 1531, l. 5 – 1532, l. 14; Cullop's PowerPoint, slides 31-34, 47-50. His testimony also included details and opinion—all based on secondhand information and hearsay—intended to demonstrate that Gene and Billie were not likely killed by some other random criminal act, R. 1501, l. 13 – 1504, l. 23; Cullop's PowerPoint, slides 1-3; that Appellant lied about a business operation in Ukraine, R. 1513, ll. 1-24; Cullop's PowerPoint, slides 8-9; and that, according to Google Maps, Appellant's apartment is approximately an hour away from Gene's home, R. 1537, ll. 14-21; Cullop's PowerPoint, slide 51.

Two more detailed examples are helpful in demonstrating the type of opinions Cullop shared. First, Cullop described looking at Appellant's phone's location information as follows:

[T]here's a section on Cellebrite where it just says locations, I clicked on locations and then it brings up a timeline where you can drag to dates. From that information, I extracted the Excel spreadsheet that had dates and times, location information. . . . So, when I began looking at that, I saw a lot of location data that didn't make sense including Poland and other places. So, I actually reached out to our computer crimes division who deals with Cellebrite the most and asked if there was any way that I could use that information to verify the location. They actually provided me with this document that Cellebrite provides their users that gives you the pass and tables that are considered reliable.

R. 1398, l. 23 – 1399, l. 25. Part of his "analysis" included a spreadsheet he found online "and it showed what reliable information was versus unreliable or not reliable location information." R.

1509, l. 20-22; Cullop's PowerPoint, slide 10. As the solicitor put it, that was "something that literally you could Google it and find out." R. 1510, ll. 3-6.

For another example, Cullop opined Appellant manually deleted all of his search history. R. 1519, l. 13 – 1520, l. 1. This was despite the fact—as Cullop recognized—Devlin did not give an opinion as to whether the information was manually deleted by Appellant or automatically and unintentionally deleted by the phone. R. 934, l. 15 – 935, l. 6.

ii. Argument Below and Trial Court's Ruling

Prior to Cullop's testimony, Appellant objected arguing it was cumulative and requested the state first proffer the testimony. R. 1325, l. 2 – 1326, l. 15. He also argued all of Cullop's testimony was unnecessary and required him to be qualified as an expert. R. 1337, ll. 6-19; R. 1339, l. 23 – 1340, l. 11; R. 1443, ll. 6-13. Appellant summarized his objection to Cullop's testimony as follows:

Agent Cullop did not analyze this. He didn't tag this stuff. He's interpreting it to make a conclusion to the jury I mean it's basically cherrypicking, interpreting. She says context. But this is her closing, judge. I mean this is every single thing she can bring up in his [sic] closing.

R. 1478, l. 25 – 1479, l. 8. He argued, "[The solicitor] can make these points in closing," and, "I don't understand why this couldn't be pulled out through individual witnesses." R. 1337, l. 20; R. 1343, ll. 14-15.

The solicitor agreed "some of it" was testified to by the individual witnesses. R. 1343, ll. 14-20. The solicitor argued Cullop's testimony and PowerPoint were necessary "to show what he found and he's gonna put it in the context of what we know through testimony as well as . . . interviews that have been done in this particular case." R. 1334, l. 21 – 1335, l. 1. She argued, "what he's done is what Eric Devlin couldn't do, and that is, Eric Devlin, he did not investigate

this case," and that "what he's doing is he's tying the information back to the relevance of this case and the evidence already in the case." R. 1335, ll. 2-23. The solicitor summarized,

[W]hat we've done is, based on [Appellant's phone] extraction and based on the call detail records, we have gone through it with a fine tooth[ed-]comb to come up with what is in evidence that clearly ties everything together. That's all he's doing. We don't have anything new here. He's just put it in a nice package so he can testify about what he did in the investigation to bring context to this information. That's it.

R. 1339, ll. 10-17. The solicitor argued: "He's not interpreting the evidence. He is actually applying it to the timeline and the information to put it in context for the jury. That's it." R. 1348, ll. 15-18.

The court was clear its standard for expert testimony was as follows:

I will view the slides/pages placing myself in the juror's shoes. If I understand something then I will assume they do and not require an expert. If the reverse holds then will require [sic] an expert and not allow it in with Cullop.

Court's Ex. 2, R. 1921; R. 1484, ll. 11-16. The trial court believed Cullop could testify to the location information because "[h]e's just plugging in information to generate those documents." R. 1493, l. 23 – 1494, l. 1. Although the court sustained Appellant's objection on a narrow number of slides and sections of Cullop's testimony, it largely overruled Appellant's objections and allowed most of Cullop's proffered testimony. Court's Ex. 2, R. 1921 – 1923.

- b. Cullop's testimony was impermissible lay opinion, and the trial court admitted the evidence based on the wrong legal standard.

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