RECEIVED

Apr 08 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Chester County
The Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

GENE ALEXZANDER SCOTT,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2024-000900

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

R. BRANDON LARRABEE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 104865

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

HON. RANDY E. NEWMAN, JR.
Solicitor, Sixth Judicial Circuit
Post Office Box 607
Lancaster, South Carolina 29721-0607
(803) 416-9367

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

As a result, when Agent Cullop was testifying about how the facts gathered by the investigation fit together, he was not doing so based solely on looking at cold evidence and applying his general knowledge to it. He was basing his testimony on an investigation in which he had been an active part, and basing the statements he made on specific information about the case, not as an outside observer analyzing investigators’ findings. *See Ostrowski, supra; see also United States v. Johnson*, 617 F.3d 286, 293 (4th Cir. 2010) (“ Furthermore, Agent Smith admitted that he did not participate in the surveillance during the investigation, but rather gleaned information from interviews with suspects and charged members of the conspiracy *after* listening to the phone calls. His post-hoc assessments cannot be credited as a substitute for the personal knowledge and perception required under Rule 701.”).⁴

⁴ Importantly, the appellant in *Johnson* challenged Smith’s testimony because his “opinions regarding the calls were not based on his own perception, but rather on his experience and

Furthermore, this evidence is without a doubt harmless for the very reason that Appellant contends it is not harmless—because it was almost entirely cumulative to other evidence that had been presented throughout the trial. *See, e.g., State v. Griffin*, 339 S.C. 74, 77–78, 528 S.E.2d 668, 670 (2000) (“There is no reversible error in the admission of evidence that is cumulative to other evidence properly admitted.”); *State v. Kirton*, 381 S.C. 7, 37, 671 S.E.2d 107, 122 (Ct. App. 2008) (“The admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence.”) (collecting cases); *Ramos v. Hawley*, 316 S.C. 534, 537, 451 S.E.2d 27, 28 (Ct. App. 1994) (“[A]s a settled principle of law, the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative of other evidence.”).

Appellant attempts to sidestep this by turning an exception into the rule. *See State v. Barrett*, 299 S.C. 485, 487, 386 S.E.2d 242, 243 (1989) (“To the contrary, it is precisely this cumulative effect which enhances the devastating impact of improper corroboration.”). But *Barrett* is a bolstering case, so that makes sense; the very point of bolstering is to bring additional statements or opinions forward to prove that the contested evidence should be believed. Agent Cullop’s testimony was to place that other testimony into context, not to bolster it.⁵

For these reasons, Appellant cannot show that Agent Cullop’s testimony was impermissible. His convictions should be affirmed.

training.” *Johnson*, 617 F.3d at 292. Here, Agent Cullop was testifying about facts specific to this case, not based on his general experience.

⁵ As far as the allegation that Agent Cullop’s testimony “corroborated the state’s theory of the case,” it is hard to see how the concept of contested litigation could survive his proposed standard. Evidence is intended to corroborate a party’s theory of the case; that is the standard for relevance. *See* Rule 401, SCRE (defining “relevant evidence” as “evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.”). If evidence is not corroborating a party’s theory of the case, it is difficult to understand what purpose it serves.

II. The trial court properly admitted Agent Clamp’s testimony about the victims’ lifestyles, because it was based on an investigation in which Agent Clamp participated and because her assessment did not require expertise.

Appellant next argues that the trial court erred by refusing to find that Agent Clamp’s testimony about the victims’ lifestyles—and whether those lifestyles would have exposed them to a greater risk of crime—required an expert. But the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that the testimony was admissible, and in any event the error is beyond a doubt harmless.

The admissibility of opinion evidence is assessed under two different standards in South Carolina. First, a lay witness is allowed to testify to opinions “rationally based on the perception of the witness,” as long as that information is helpful to the jury and doesn’t rely on “special knowledge, skill, experience or training.” Rule 701, SCRE. Qualified expert witnesses, meanwhile, can “testify . . . in the form of an opinion or otherwise” without the same requirements. Rule 702, SCRE. And while law enforcement officers who are not qualified as experts face the same restrictions on opinion testimony as other lay witnesses, “in limited circumstances” they “are allowed to draw on their experiences while testifying.” *Ostrowski*, 435 S.C. at 384–85, 867 S.E.2d at 279–80.

Again, *Ostrowski* and the cases cited there are instructive. First, we know from *Ostrowski* that the judge recognizing Agent Clamp’s experience in making his rule does not automatically render her an expert, because the same thing happened in *Ostrowski*. *See* 435 S.C. at 386, 867 S.E.2d at 280. In *Ostrowski*, like in this case, the trial court observed as part of his ruling that the investigator “can testify all about that in his experience and knowledge and skill as an officer . . . without attaching the label of an expert on that.” *Id.* On appeal, this Court looked past that statement to find that the investigator was allowed to testify because of his personal observations and the effect they had on the investigation. *See id.* at 386–88, 867 S.E.2d at 280–81. The same is

true here. *See also United States v. Perez*, 962 F.3d 420, 436 (9th Cir. 2020) (“[W]hether evidence is more properly offered by an expert or a lay witness ‘depends on the basis of the opinion, not its subject matter.’” (quoting *United States v. Barragan*, 871 F.3d 689, 704 (9th Cir. 2017))).

In this case, Agent Clamp was discussing how the evidence officers were gathering prompted them to cast their net in the directions that they did. She was looking into “who would potentially have anything against” Gene and Billie. (R. p. 1272, ll. 15–18). And the reason? To inform where the investigation needed to go from there. (R. p. 1272, ll. 18–20).

To be sure, Agent Clamp did briefly discuss at times whether Gene and Billie were “high risk” or “low risk” victims. (R. p. 1272, l. 25–p. 1273, l. 2; p. 1274, ll. 6–7). But the thrust of her testimony was that investigators found that neither of the victims used drugs or frequented drug-related locations. (R. p. 1273, ll. 8–17). Investigators also found that the two of them didn’t regularly visit bars and clubs. (R. p. 1273, ll. 18–20). Billie was a retiree taking shelter during the COVID-19 pandemic, and Gene was largely a homebody when he wasn’t at work or going to church. (R. p. 1273, l. 24–p. 1274, l. 7). In light of that, Agent Clamp’s testimony agreeing with the solicitor that the two were not “putting themselves in high risk situations” was hardly the kind of conclusion that requires “special knowledge, skill, experience or training.” Rule 701, SCRE. It was essentially an observation that their lives were banal—information that could help investigators determine where to focus their efforts, but hardly required any of them to hold a doctorate. *See Ostrowski*, 435 S.C. at 387, 867 S.E.2d at 281 (“Courts have frequently held that law enforcement officers can offer their opinion on certain aspects of the drug trade based on their *personal experience or knowledge* regarding the *particular investigation* at issue, or how those experiences and knowledge shaped their contemporaneous perceptions of what they saw *while acting in the course of an investigation.*”) (collecting cases).

The cases Appellant musters to the contrary don't undermine that conclusion.

For example, this case is not a repeat of *Tapp*—as the trial court recognized. (R. p. 1291, ll. 8–16). In *Tapp*, as part of his extensive testimony, an expert discussed his belief that the victim was targeted for sexual assault in part “because of the victim’s relatively low risk for encountering a violent crime.” *State v. Tapp*, 398 S.C. 376, 390, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012). He also testified about how the assailant likely got into the victim’s home; what other reasons there were to believe that the victim was the target of a sexually motivated crime; whether the assailant’s original intent was to kill the victim; and how the attacker likely “posed” the body. *Id.* at 376, 728 S.E.2d at 475–76.⁶ Additionally, this Court’s opinion on *Tapp*—later reversed on legal grounds, to be sure—noted that the expert testified based on “a review of crime scene photos, autopsy reports, and other information provided by the police and prosecution” *State v. Tapp*, 387 S.C. at 163, 691 S.E.2d at 167, *rev'd*, 398 S.C. 376, 728 S.E.2d 468 (2012)

Unlike Agent Clamp’s observations here, the significance of the expert’s observations in *Tapp* and the conclusions he drew from them required expertise. *See* Rule 701(c), SCRE; *cf. State v. Jones*, 423 S.C. 631, 638, 817 S.E.2d 268, 271 (2018) (“Whether the subject matter of a proposed expert’s testimony is outside the realm of lay knowledge is a determination left solely to the trial judge and his or her sense of what knowledge is commonly held by the average juror.”). And unlike the expert witness in *Tapp*, Agent Clamp was a participant in the investigation.

⁶ Interestingly, the courts in *Tapp* didn’t have to rule on whether victimology testimony required an expert witness because, as this Court acknowledged in its later-reversed opinion, both sides conceded in that case “that crime scene analysis and victimology are nonscientific areas of expertise.” *State v. Tapp*, 387 S.C. 159, 167, 691 S.E.2d 165, 169 (Ct. App. 2010), *rev'd*, 398 S.C. 376, 728 S.E.2d 468 (2012). That is not determinative in this case, because as the Ninth Circuit observed in *Perez*, whether opinion testimony must be delivered by an expert or can instead come from a lay witness “depends on the basis of the opinion, not its subject matter.” *Perez, supra* (quoting *Barragan, supra*).

Finally, any error resulting from the admission of this testimony was harmless. Appellant was not identified as a suspect in this case or convicted through the process of elimination; he was identified as a suspect and convicted because of thorough and overwhelming evidence demonstrating his guilt. At least two individuals implicated him in having arranged a false alibi as part of a previous attempt to carry out the murders; one of those individuals testified that Appellant had confessed to killing a grandfather figure and that man's mother; multiple electronic communications implicated Appellant; and there was abundant evidence leading to the conclusion that Appellant was running low on money and could have seen his grandfather figure's death as a way to create a financial windfall. Even if Gene and Billie had been more adventurous, an overwhelming amount of evidence pointed in Appellant's directions.

Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

III. The trial court appropriately found that Agent Clamp’s testimony did not constitute “pitting” because she discussed inconsistencies between witnesses; even if the trial court was mistaken, the error was harmless.

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in allowing Agent Clamp’s testimony regarding the inconsistencies between the accounts of different witnesses because that testimony included impermissible “pitting.” But Appellant is wrong. The trial court correctly held that the testimony was not pitting, and even if Appellant was right, the error would be harmless.

“Pitting” has a clear definition under South Carolina law. It is where a witness is asked to comment about the truthfulness or the credibility of another witness—generally one that is adverse. That did not happen here.

“It is improper for the solicitor to cross-examine a witness in such a manner as to force him to attack the veracity of another witness.” *State v. Sapps*, 295 S.C. 484, 486, 369 S.E.2d 145, 145–46 (1988). “No matter how a question is worded, anytime a solicitor asks *a defendant* to comment on the truthfulness or explain the testimony of *an adverse witness*, the defendant is in effect being pitted against the adverse witness.” *Burgess v. State*, 329 S.C. 88, 91, 495 S.E.2d 445, 447 (1998) (emphases added). *See also State v. Bryant*, 316 S.C. 216, 221, 447 S.E.2d 852, 855 (1994) (Moore, J., dissenting) (agreeing with the majority that “a Solicitor may not attack a defendant's veracity by pitting the defendant's testimony against that of a State’s witness”); *State v. Daise*, 421 S.C. 442, 458, 807 S.E.2d 710, 718 (Ct. App. 2017) (“Our courts have previously held that the assessment of witness credibility is within the exclusive province of the jury, and that witnesses generally are not allowed to testify whether another witness is telling the truth.” (quoting *State v. Kromah*, 401 S.C. 340, 358, 737 S.E.2d 490, 499–500 (2013)) (cleaned up by removing internal quotation marks and brackets)); *State v. Benning*, 338 S.C. 59, 63, 524 S.E.2d 852, 855 (Ct. App.

1999) (“It is improper to cross-examine in a way that requires a witness to attack another witness's credibility.”).

The summation of Agent Clamp’s testimony is this: Evan said Ian was the one who transported Evan to Columbia; Ian said Appellant did so; the statements of Caroline Deaton seemed to make it impossible for either Ian or Appellant to be Evan’s ride from North Carolina. (R. p. 1293, l. 10–p. 1294, l. 24).⁷ The truth or falsity of any of the individual statements—including Appellant’s—were not as relevant as the fact that they were inconsistent with one another. Before this Court, Appellant attempts to turn this into pitting by isolating a phrase from Agent Clamp’s testimony regarding inconsistencies that raised her concerns. In full, Agent Clamp’s initial testimony about the inconsistencies: “So, I had reviewed the interview that the defendant had done at the Sheriff’s Department with them *as well as* any interviews that they had conducted on their own, and *throughout these interviews*, I had found multiple inconsistencies that rose to a high level of concern for me.” (R. p. 1276, l. 24–p. 1277, l. 3) (emphases added).⁸

Appellant’s attempts to invoke *Pickrell* fall flat. First of all, *Pickrell* isn’t really a pitting case. *See State v. Pickrell*, 443 S.C. 497, 504, 905 S.E.2d 374, 377 (2024) (“We agree with *Pickrell* that a witness such as Bailey should not be permitted to testify that another person's account of events should not be believed. However, that is not what Bailey did.”). Secondly, the concern of the court was that the investigator’s testimony was irrelevant because it only showed the

⁷ Evan Webb testified at trial that Appellant picked him up in North Carolina. (R. p. 1015, ll. 17–24). However, other testimony at trial indicated he had originally said it was Ian Little. (R. p. 641, ll. 1–5).

⁸ Without conceding that the statements were hearsay, as Appellant alleges here, that issue is irrelevant in the consideration of whether Agent Clamp’s testimony constituted pitting. Additionally, the trial court did order some of Agent Clamp’s testimony struck because of a hearsay objection. (R. p. 1293, l. 24–p. 1294, l. 7).

investigator's personal "puzzlement" at how the facts of the crime matched up with the defendant's narrative of events. *See id.* at 502–03, 905 S.E.2d at 376–77.

But the most telling difference between this case and *Pickrell* comes down to whether the challenged testimony helped to explain the actions that investigators took. The *Pickrell* Court was dubious about that argument, finding that neither the State's question nor the investigator's actions after the defendant's statement suggested that it played a role in the investigation. *See id.* at 503, 905 S.E.2d at 377. However, in this case, the testimony about inconsistencies among the witnesses' accounts came up as Agent Clamp testified about why she had traveled to Ohio to try to speak to Ian Little. (R. p. 1276, l. 18–p. 1277, l. 12). When the jury returned, the State framed its question around investigators' efforts to establish a timeline of events—an investigatory step. (R. p. 1293, ll. 2–23). Eventually, the testimony again returned to Agent Clamp's efforts to talk to Ian Little. (R. p. 1295, l. 16–p. 1296, l. 6). Here, the testimony logically connected to the State's efforts to outline how a long and complicated investigation focused on Appellant.

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